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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

DAVID PETERS, : Case No. 11ev-850
Plaintiff, :

V.
COMMUNITY EDUCATION

CENTERS, INC., et al.,
Defendants.

MEMORANDUM RE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Baylson, J. March 13, 2014
l. Introduction

Plaintiff David J. Peters brought this action against Defendant Communityteduca
Centers, Inc. (“CEC”) and other unnamed defendants (collectively, “Defeiddnts/iolations
of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (Counts | and Il) and for Pennsylvania state law claims of negl(i@eno¢
1), intentional infliction of emotional distress (Count V), and negligenigtiin of emotion
distress (Count V)ECF11. CEC now moves the Court to grargattial summary judgment
with respect to Counts I, II, IV, and MECF56. In his Counter-Statement of Undisputed
Material Facts, Peters conceded that he was no longer pursuing Cola€IRG6  71.For the
following reasons, CEC’s Motion is GRANTED as to Counts | and Il. As a restiiisofuling,
there areno claimsleft over which this Court has originairisdiction The Court declines to
exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the remaining state law cl@#&bl.S.C. § 136¢€)(3).
Accordingly, Counts Il and V are DISMISSENITHOUT PREJUDICE
Il. Undisputed Facts and Procedural History

CECis a New Jersey corporation that has contracted with the Delaware CourdyoBoar

Prison Inspectors to provide daily functional servicasehiding staffing of correctional officers
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and providing health services for inmatest-George W. Hill Correctional Facili{ghe
“Prison”) in Glen Mills, PennsylvaniaECF56-16.

On September 17, 2010, a bench warrant was issued for Pategstsfor failing to
report to the Delaware County Department of Adult Probation and P#&teterss underlying
conviction was for driving under the influence, in violation of 75 P.A. Stat. § 3802(a)(1).
Beginning on October 6, 2010, Peters was incarcerated at the Prison.

Peters suffers fromasteogenesisnperfecta also known as brittle bone disease. As the
name implies, individuals with this disease are frail and have increasedtsibiyeio breaking
bones. Upon his arrival, Peters inforn@EC officials of his condition. On October 18, 2010,
CECoofficials issued Peters a special needs pass that indicated that he was to be assigned to the
bottom bunk in his cell—presumaltly limit the risk that he might fall or suffer other injury.
ECF58-8.

Despite having a special needs pass, Peters was housed on a top bunk during his
incarceration.Shortly after his assignment to his cell, Peters informed an unidentified
corrections officer that he had a special needs pass for a bottomBORIE6-1 at12.! The
officer, however, did not reassign Peters to another bunk—even though other inmates with
bottom bunk passes were reassigned at that tid#-56-1 at12. Peters also wrote several
requests inquiring about his lower bunk status, including two medical reque$s$tansdo
Frank Green, the Warden; Michaelr®an, the Chief of Security; David Byrne, the Associate
Warden; and John Swidld?eters’scounselor.ECF58-25. Peters received no responses to

these inquiriesECF56-1 at13.

! Citations to page numbers correspond to the page numbers of the documentsEsetireyrathe
docket.



On the night of October 25, 2010, Peters attempted to descend from his top bunk to use
the restroom. He fell, fracturing his left forearm and injuring his ankle. ECR269

Peters filed this action in federal court on February 3, 28ll€ging that the inaction of
CEC employees violated his Eighth Amendment right to be free from cruel angatinus
punishment and that CEC is liable for that violation under 42 U.S.C. 8§ E38B1. Peters has
also named numerous unidentified correctional officers as “John Doe” defendangssunttHout
these defendants have not been identified or served with prd&essal argument, Peters stated
he was proceeding solely against CEH&terdiled an Amended Complaint on April 13, 2011.
ECF11. On May 3, 201XCECfiled a Partial Motion to Dismiss Counts I, IV, and ECF13.

The Court denied that Motion on October 19, 20ECF20. Now, having completed discovery,
CECmoves for summary judgment on all counts except for CountR#ters’s negligence
claim. ECF56. Oral argument was held on February 27, 2014.

I. Disputed Facts

Before describing the disputed facts, the Court observes that most of grahfatts in
this case are not dispute8eeECF 71.

Peters claims th&@ EC maintains a custom of ignoring special needs passes and that this
custom violated his civil rightsHe asserts he has presented evidence of a systemic breakdown
in communication at the Prison between medical staff and corrections stafh, lethito his
special needs pass being ignorédternatively, Peters claims his rights were violated as a result
of CECs failureto train its corrections officers to address the special needs of inntaées.
asserts that, whatever nominal special needs policypiaae, CEC employees receive no
training on that policy and therefore were ignorant of the serious consequencesingigisor

special needs pass.



CECdisputes that there is any evidence of a custom or practice of correctioreaksof
ignoring the speal needs passes of inmates. Furthern©EE contends that it is in
compliance with all required standards promulgated by the Pennsylvania Depatme
Corrections, the American Correctional Association, and the National Coromdssi
Correctional HealtlCare; that it maintains a specific special needs policy for inmates; and that
corrections officers are trained on this policy.

CECalso asserts that, even if CEC employigesred or violated Peters’s rights, this was
an isolated inciderthat isinsufiicient to putCEC on notice of the existence of a custom or
training deficiency thatends to begetonstitutional violationsand thus it cannot be liable under
Monelljurisprudence.

V. Legal Standard

A. Summary Judgment

CEChas moved for partial summarydgment as to all counts exceptudt Ill. A court
shall grant summary judgment only if “the pleadings, depositions, answers togaterres, and
admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is nangdssiue as to
any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter’ofleavR.

Civ. P. 56(c). The moving party bears the burden of demonstrating that no genuine issue of
material fact existsSee Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Cdifh U.S. 574, 586

n.10 (1986). In making this determination, the Court must view the evidence in the light most
favorable to the nonmoving party and draw all reasonable inferences in that pady's f

Wishkin vPotter, 476 F.3d 180, 184 (3d Cir. 2007Facts that could alter the outcome are
‘material,” and disputes are ‘genuine’ if evidence exists from whicki@aned person could

conclude that the position of the person with the burden of proof on the disgaue is



correct.” Horowitz v. FedKemper Life Assurance C&7 F.3d 300, 302 n.1 (3d Cir. 1995)
(internal citations omitted).

If the moving party has demonstrated an absence of material fact, the nonmaotying pa
then “must come forward with ‘specific facts showing that tiheeegenuine issue for tridl.’
Matsushita 475 U.S. at 58{quoting FedR. Civ. P. 56(e)). However, the nonmoving party
“must present more than just ‘bare assertions, conclusory allegations aciansgo show the
existence of a genuine issué?bdobnik v. U.S. Postal Ser409 F.3d 584, 594 (3d Cir. 2005)
(quotingCelotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 325 (1986)).he plaintiff cannot rely merely
on the unsupported allegations of the complaintnbst present more than the “mere existence
of a scintilla of evidence” in his favorAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inet77 U.S. 242, 252
(1986). If the nonmoving party fails to make a sufficient showing on an essentialrelefmts
case with respect tohich it has the burden of proof, the moving party is entitled to judgment as
a matter of law.See Celotexd77 U.S. at 322.

B. Monell Liability

In its Motion,CECargueghatPetershasfailed topresent evidence demonstratang
genuine issue of material fact fglonell liability andthat based on the record, CEC is entitled
to judgment as a matter of law.

In Monell v. Deft of Soc. Servs. of City of New Y,0486 U.S. 658 (1978), the Supreme
Court held that a municipality ndbe found liable under § 1983. Municipal liability attaches,
however, only where the municipality itself causes a constitutional viola@omunicipality is
not subject toespondeat superiarr vicarious liability under § 1983d. at 694-95. This
holding has been extended to private corporations performing municipal funcdiease.g.

Taylor v. Plousis101 F. Supp. 2d 255, 263 (D.N.J. 2000) (noting that neither “the Supreme



Court nor the Third Circuit has yet determined whether a private corporatiompieda
municipal function is subject to the holdingMonell’ but relying on the reasoning of other
courts as the basis for applyiMpnell) (citing Powell v. Shopco Laurel C&78 F.2d 504, 506
(4th Cir. 1982)jiskander v. Vill. of Forest Parl690 F.2d 126, 128 (7th Cir. 1982)).

A municipality or private contractor “may be liable under this section ife¢haty] itself
‘subjects’ a person to a deprivation of rights or ‘causes’ a person ‘to be subjectadht
deprivation.” Connick v. Thompsoi31 S. Ct. 1350, 1359 (2011). Accordingly, to hold a
municipality liable unde8 1983, a plaintiff must show (1) a deprivatioradederal rightCity
of Los Angeles v. Helled75 U.S. 796, 799 (1986); (2) a relevant policy or custom attributable to
the municipalityMonell, 436 U.S. at 691; an@®) “a direct causal link” between the municipal
action and the deprivation of tfederal rightBd. of Comm'rs of Bryan Cnty., v. Brova20
U.S. 397, 404 (1997).

A policy is made “when decisionmaker possessing final authority to establish a
municipal policy with respect to the action issues a final proclamation, polidiatr’eNatale
v. Camden Chy. Corr. Facility, 318 F.3d 575, 584 (3d Cir. 2003) (origiadteration and citation
omitted). A custom is an act “that has not been formally approved by an appropriate
decisionmaker, but that is so widespread as to have the force ofltaviriternal quotation
marks omitted).

The Third Circuit has identified three situations whets af an employee will be
considered the result of a policy or custom of the municipality for whom the erephar&s(1)
where the appropriate officer or municipality promulgates a generallicable statement of

policy and the subsequent act compldinéis simply an implementation of that policy; (2)

2 For the purposes of this opinion, the Court refers to a municipality aridatepcontractor performing a
municipal function interchangeably.



where no rules have been announced as policy but federal law has been violated by te ac
policymaker itself; or (3) where the policymaker has failed to act affirmgtatedll, though the
need taiake some action to control the municipality’s agents is so obvious, and the inadequacy
of existing practice so likely to result in the violation of constitutional rights, tleat th
policymaker can reasonably be said to have been deliberately indiffetaetrieedor action
Id.

1. Legal Standard EstablishingCustom

Peters argues that CEC is liable under § 1983 because it maintained a custiomg td fa
“observe, communicate, and act upon ‘special needs pas&€3F71 { 3. He therefore seeks
to establish a custom under the third scenario discus$¢atabe—where the policymaker “sits
on his hands after repeated, unlawful acts of subordinate officers Bryah Cny., 520 U.Sat
418 (Souter, J., dissenting).

In this third scenario, a plaintiff must demonstrate that the municipality’s inactiotheas
result of deliberate indifference to its “known or obvious consequentidsat 407. Deliberate
indifference “is a stringent standard of fault . . Id. at 410. “A showing of simple or even
heightened negligence will not sufficeld. at407. To satisfy this standard, a plaintiff must
adduce evidence that the municipality (1) had notice that similar rightsienddtad occurred
on such a widespread basis tthegty were likely to occur agaand (2) failed to act to address
that risk despitéhe known or obvious consequences of inactiderg v. Gity. of Allegheny219
F.3d 261, 276 (3d Cir. 2000). Notice is generally established by a pattern of prioutionstit
violations. SeeBeck v. City of Pittsburgl89 F.3d 966, 975 (3d Cir. 1996) (holding that pattern
of written complaints of police officer violence was sufficient for reaslkenaipy to conclude

municipality knew or should have known of violations). Once plaintiff has demonstratelethat t



municipality was “aware of similar unddul conduct in the past,” deliberate indifference is
established by showing that the municipality “failed to take precautions afjaurst
violations.” Beilevicz v. Dubinom915 F.2d 845, 851 (3d Cir. 1990).

Additionally, a plaintiff must show thahere is a “direct causal link” between the
municipality’s custom and his constitutional deprivati@ryan Cnty, 520 U.S. at 404This
burden is satisfied by showing that the custom was the “moving force” thabcbedrto the
injury. Id. A plaintiff must show that a particular custom was the “proximate cause” of the
constitutional violation.Kneipp v. Tedderd5 F.3d 1199, 1213 (3d Cir. 1996).

2. Legal Standard Establishing~ailure to Train

As an alternative theory to establish custBetersargues thaCECfailed to adequately
train its employees to properly care for prisoners with special nesgegaln limited
circumstances, a municipality’s failure to train its employegardingtheir legal dity to avoid
violating citizens’rights is actionable under § 1983. Under a “failieré¢rain” theory, an
unconstitutional custom may be inferred where a municipality so failedidts@mployees as
to display deliberate indifference to the constitutional rights of those withirrigsliction or in
its custody. When policymakers are on actual or constructive notice that a padioigsion in
their training program causes their employees to violate constitutional rightsutheipality
may be deemed deliberately indifferent i€ltooses to retain that progra@ity of Cantorv.
Harris, 489 U.S. 378, 3961989)(noting that a “policy of inaction’ in light of notice that its
program will cause constitutional violations is the functional equivalent of aatebtig the city
itself to violate the Constitution”)Under a failureto-train theoryPeteranust provehat (1)

CECfailed to adequately train prison officials about tending to the special needs t#sn@a



CECwas deliberately indifferent to the need for training; and (3) the lackiofrig had a direct
causal link tdPeters’sallegedEighth Amendment injuryConnick 131 S.Ct. at 1358.

As with other § 1983 claims based on custom, notice is critical to a feokrain
theory. “Without notice that a course of training is deficient in a particesgect,
decisionmakers can hardly be said to hdekiberately chosen a training program that will cause
violations of constitutional rights.1d. at 1360. Accordingly, a pattern of similar constitutional
violations is ordinarily required to show deliberate indifference in the fatituteain context.
Bryan Cty.520 U.S. at 40%ee Connickl31 S. Ct. at 1360 n.7 (“[C]ontemporaneous or
subsequent conduct cannot establish a pattern of violations that would provide notice yo the cit
and the opportunity to conform to constitutional dictates.” (internal quotation marks gimalori
alterations omitted)).

Where no such pattern is presented, the plaintiff must “demonstrate that thesputat
constitutional violation was the ‘highly predictable consequence’ of the defendaripality’'s
inadequate traing program.”Boswell v. EoopnCaseNo. 08-5098, 2013 WL 5863741, at *3
(D.N.J. Oct. 30, 2013) (quotim@onnick 131 S. Ct. at 1361 It is only in the rare circumstance
where a deficient training program so obviously would lead to constitutional gidahat a
single incident could demonstrate deliberate indifferef@igy of Canton489 U.Sat390 n.10;
see Bryan @ty., 520 U.S. at 398 (noting that a single incident will indicate deliberate
indifference only in a “narrow range of circumstances”).

Establishing deliberate indifference toward a trairdeficiency corresponds with
Peers’s burden to demonstrate fadure to train was the proximate cause of his constitutional
injury. Petersnust identify a particular failure in a training program that is “closely related to

the ultimate injury.” City of Canton489 U.S. at 391. A generic claim that a program failed to



train employees not to be negligent is insufficient to establish a daastl link to the particular
injury suffered by the plaintiff. Liability attaches only if “the deficigni training actually
caused the [constitutional injury].id. (noting that the plaintiff must show that the “injury
[would] have been avoided had the employee been trained under a program that was not
deficient in the identified respect”).
V. Discussion

A. Custom of Ignoring Special Needs Passes

CECcontens thatPetershas failed to present evidence showing @BC maintained a
policy or custom that caus@&tkterso be subject to a constitutional deprivation. With regard to
Peters’scustom theoryCECargues that hbas not established th@ECs employees ignore
special needs passes on such a widespread basis that this practice has the fordé¢atdliaw.
318 F.3d at 584 The record indicatethat CEC maintains a special needs poli&CF 56-3,
whichis in compliance with the National Commission on Correctional Health Care guidelines
and American Correction@ssociation guidelinesECF56-2 at 27.CEChasalsoprovided
deposition testimonindicatingthat its corrections officerat least sometimagspond to the
needs of prisoners wheiney arepresented with special needs pas$eg., ECF56-6 at 11-12.

Of coursePeters’sheory is not premised on the absence of an official special needs
policy; rather Peterscontends that there is a custeanthin the prison of ignorin@ ECs special
needs policy.Petersoffers hisdeposition testimonywhich indicaés thatshortly after being
assigned to his cele informed a guard that he wagpposed to have a bottom bunk, but the
guard did nothing ECF58-7 at 12.Peterdhas also presented evidemadicaing that he wrote
complaints to Frank Green, theaWden; Michael Gannon, the Chief of Security; David Byrne,

Associate Warden; John Swidl®egters’scounselor; and two medical request slips regarding his
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special needs pass for bottom bunk status—all of which, accorditegeds sworn affidavit,
were ignoed. ECF58-14;see als&ECF58-7 at 1214;ECF58-12;ECF58-13.

AlthoughPetershas provided evidence that one or more individual prison officials may
have violated hisights the record lackevidence of a widespread custoReters cannot rely on
his evidence that sever@8EC officials ignored his complaints about his October 18, 2010
special needs pass establish @ustom undeMonell. SeeConnick 131 S.Ct. at 1360 n.7
(“[Clontemporaneous or subsequent conduct cannot establish a pattern of violations tthat woul
provide notice to the city and the opportunity to conform to constitutional di¢tatgsrnal
guotation marks and original alteration omitted)).

In Connick the plaintiff arged that he had satisfiédonells requirement of
demonstrating a pattern of constitutional violations because up to four prosecuta@iselolote f
discloseBrady material over the course bis criminal trial. Id. The Supreme Court treated that
course of conduct as a single incidentNtonell purposes and held that it was insufficient to
constitute a pattern of violation&imilarly, Peterswrote his first complaint about his special
needs pass on October 10, 2010. He incurred his injuries fifteen days later on October 25, 2010.
Although multiple individuals may have been involved in ignoring his complasats Connick
the inaction by these individuals only constitutes a single incideMdoell purposes.

ConnicKs holding on this point iselevant herdecause it reiteratddonell's distinction
betweeniability based onmrespondeat supericand liability based oa customattributableto a
municipality. The law permits this attributievherea practice of constitutional violations is so
widespread that municipality could not plausibly be ignorant of the likelihood of future
constitutional violation. The law treats a municipality’s continued inaction in ligthti®f

widespread practice as acquiescence and de ffatafication of the cusm. It follows that

11



whatever objectionable behavior that occurs duaisghgle incidenrt-whether that be the
unresponsiveness of several prison officials over the course of fifteen dayshiasase, or the
disclosure failures of four prosecutors pttee course of a criminal trighs inConnick—that
conduct alone is insufficient to put a municipality on notice of the existence of gvadds
custom. Without such notice, a municipality cannot be said to have been delibeditidyeint
to Peters’s right$. Berg 219 F.3d at 276.

Peters’s additional evidence of custom does not surmount the requireménysasf
Cantonor Connick Initially, Peters submitted the affidavit of Michael Norley, inmate
incarcerated at the Prison in 2011 and 2012. In his affidéwrtey attestshat he had a special
needs pass for a lower buakd a pass for an extra mattrédss wereignored by CEC
employees. ECF58-26. Norley’s affidavit, however, is dated August 9, 201@+y days after
the discovery deadline on June 30, 2013. Peters has been afforded more than nineteen months to
complete discoveryECF51. Consideration dhis affidavitwould subject CEC to unfair
surprise, for CEC had no opportunity to cross-examine Norley in discovery.

Even if the Court considered Norley’s affidavit, two instances of inappropriate ¢onduc
do not establish a custom unddonell. “Isolated events will not establish a pattern of abusive
behavior.” Mariani v. City of Pittburgh, 624 F. Supp. 506, 511 (W.D. Pa. 198&%e also
Palmer v. Marion Cnty.327 F.3d 588, 596 (7th Cir. 2003) (holding that a supervisor's
“knowledge of two incidents of misconduct by correctional officers in a period ofeare
certainly fails to meet the test of a widespread unconstitutional practice kgilthstaff thats

so well settled that it constitutes a custom or usa@®)nfield by Lewis v. Consolidated High

3 Peters contends that CEC employees were deliberately indifferent ighitisbrecause they had actual
natice of his condition and did nothing. This, however, is not the relevamtyngnder § 1983/onellliability.
CEC must have had notice of takegedlywidespread custom of ignoring special needs pas3eters may have
shown that certain CEC empl@gwere deliberately indifferent to his rights, but, absent evidencaele$mread
custom, he cannot show that CEC itself was deliberately indifferdms tights.

12



Sch. Dist. No. 23®91 F.2d 1316, 1327 (7th Cir. 1993) (holding that in a failoiteain action

“two reported incidents of strip searching at Carl Sandburg [High School] . shéatl of a

pattern of violations sufficient to put the school board on notice of potential harm to students”)
Davis v. City of New York5 F. App’x 827, 830 (2d Cir. 2003) (“[T]wo incidents of
unconstitutional conduct by loWevel employees . . . can never provide a reasonable basis for
finding awidespreadr well-settledcustom.”).

Peters’dwo examples are undercut by bign deposition testimony, in which he
acknowledged that, when he informed the corrections officer of his special nesdsgdop
bunksituation the officer was in the process of asking other inmates “whether or not they had
bottom bunk status and astitime actually moved someECF58-1 at 12. Peters’s testimony
supportsCEC’s contention that CEC employeasleastsometimesnquire about lower bunk
passes and take actions to honor thahmugh Peters’s special needs pass was ignored at the
time. SeeBrock v. Allegheny Cnty. Dist. Attorney OffiGaseNo. 12-0914, 2013 WL 3989452,
at *4 (W.D. Pa. Aug. 2, 2013) (“Municipal acquiescence may not be established by isolated
incidents of wrongdoing by nonpolicymakers.”).

The remainder of Petersavidence is inapposite. Peters offers two grievance forms filed
on April 4 and 5, 2010 that he submitted during a previous term of incarceration at the Prison. In
these forms, Peters complained of needing an extra mattress for his leaaksets thahese
grievances also went unheeded. These grieviances, however, do not support Peters’s case.
The record does not indicate that Peters had a special needs pass for the ezts-—+rmately
that he earnestly desired onéhe fact that Petesubmttedrequess that went unheeded does
not support higlaimthat CEC maintains a custom of ignoring the@al needs passes of

inmates.
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B. Failure to Train Regarding the Special Needs of Inmates

Peters’s failurgo-train theory suffers fromnotherevidentiary deficiency.To be sure,
Peters has raisedrableissueregarding dack of trainingfor the special needs of inmates
Although CEC has presented evidence showing that it has an official policy regaydmal
needs, Peters has presergelencehatwould allow an inference th&EC employees never
received training on thigolicy. For example, Michael Gannon, CEC’s Chief of Security, stated
in his deposition that he had never received training about inmates with special BEEdS-
27 at 7. Gary Ewena correctional officer at the Prison, also stated in his deposition that he
never received training regarding special needs pags&is58-29 at 5. Peters’s burden,
however, is much greater than simply identifying an omission aiele€y in CEC’s training
program. Peters must show that CEC was deliberately indifferent to the negelcial seeds
training. Connick 131 S.Ct. at 1358.

For a municipality’s failure to train to amount to deliberate indifference, atiflamust
show that “(1) municipal policymakers know that employees will confronttecpkar situation;
(2) the situation involves a difficult choice or a history of ergeés mishandlingand(3) the
wrong choice by an employee will frequently cause deprivation of constiditiights.” Carter
v. City of Philadelphial81 F.3d 339, 357 (3d Cir. 1999).

The Third Circuit adoptethis threeprong test from the Secondr@uit’s decisionin
Walker v. City of New Yor®74 F.2d 293, 297-98 (2d Cir. 1992), which was basdtien
Supreme Court’s discussion of deliberate indifferendeity of Canton489 U.S. at 388-90.
Describing the contours of the testeWalkercourt observed that element (1) creates a
knowledge requirement for the municipal policymaker, which underscores the notion that “a

policymaker does not exhibit deliberate indifference by failing to train em@dygeeare or
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unforeseen events.” 974 F.2d at 297. Element (2) requires a plaintiff tdfshtolne situation
involves a history of employee mishandling or requires employees to mdkéalt choice.”
TheWalkercourt observed that a “difficult choice” is one that requires more than theadiom
of common sense—armbsedhe question of whether to use deadly force in apprehending a
fleeing suspedb illustratea difficult decision requiring more than common sense. The

court also observed that a “difficult choice” might exist whé&ahough the proper course is
clear, the employee has powerful incentives to make the wrong chddceElement (3)
requires a plaintiff to show that making the “wrong” choice will frequecdlyse the deprivation
of a citizen’s constitutional rightsyhich underscores the notion that policymakers should
concentrate training and supervision resources on those situations where empsmgmduct is
likely to cause constitutional harnhd. at 298. If these three elements are establigthed the
plaintiff hassatisfied his burden to show deliberate indifference.

The fact that CEC maintains a special needs policy is evidence enough thian @&C
its employees will confront a situation in which they will have to address the lspeeds of
inmates. This satisfies element (1)he record also indicates that the special needs of inmates
are generally related to legitimate health needs. It goes without saytingnibrang the
legitimate health needs of prisoners will frequently cause a deprivatiamstitational rights"
Thus, element (3) has also been nf&tters howeverhasdifficulty satisfying element (2).
Under that element, he mudentify evidence in the recotat suggestthat the manner in
which CEC officials address theespal needs of inmates involves “a difficult choice’a

history of employee mishandling.

* The Eighth Amendment is violated when acts or omissions of priieials are (1) sufficiently serious
and (2) result in the denial of the minimal civilized measure of life’'s séees Farmer v. Brennan511 U.S. 825,
834 (1994).The Eighth Amendmais protection against cruel and unusual punishments has been incatporate
against the states through the Fourteenth Amendniaatiinson v. California370 U.S. 660 (1962).

15



Peters has not shown that addressing the special needs of inmates irevdiffesutt
choice” It is conceivable that a correctional officer would be presented with audiftihoice
when deciding whether to accommodate a prisoner’s special need if the officer\way d
verifying the existence of thapecial need other than the prisoner’'s word. TEE’s
procedures, however, eliminate this uncertainty by requiring a prisonerydtearrspecial
needs passn their person at all time€CF56-1 at 89. Accordingly, CEC employees are not
presenteavith a difficult choice when determining whether to address the special neaals of
inmate; if the inmate presents a special needs pass, the employee knows tdlzel dieess.

This scenario requires nothing more than common sense. Additionally, there is nothang in t
record to suggest that prison officials have powerful incentives to ignore a psssperial
needs pass.

Peters has also failed to show that there is a history of employees misiamellapecial
needs of inmates. The inadequacy of the record on this point has already been addpested i
V.A and need not be repeated here.

Peters has argued his briefing and extensively at oral argument that, thoyggitarn of
similar constitutional violations is ordinarily required, it is possible to estatiibberate

indifferencebased on a single incident. Under controlling precedent, this shaangilable in

® Peters points to evidence in the record that suggests corrections officershway of knowing the
special needs of inmates absent inmates showing the officers their specialassedsSgeECF58-27 (deposition
testimony of Chief of Security Michael Gannon indicating that correstifficers cannot access the Prison’s
compuer system to determine if a prisoner had a special need). Though cosrefficers may be limited in how
they identify the special needs of prisoners, Peters does not indieafgdsenting a special needs pass to an
officer is inadequate. This liref argument does not support his claim.

Peters also introduced the deposition testimony of Michael Hamre, a dexifea@EC, in which he
recounted an incident where he responded to an inmate having a seizure. Haohtbathe was unaware of the
inmate’s health status or if the inmate had a history of seizures. Pié&esghis testimony in an attempt to show
that CEC employees are ignorant of the special needs of CEC’s inmatesesiihisny, however, does not support
the contention. Neithédamre’s testimony, nor any other evidence in the record, suggestsdalsaizing inmate
had a special needs pass or that the inmate’s constitutional rights watedvas a result of Hamre being unfamiliar
with the inmate’s medical history. This lioétestimony would assist Peters if the record established that Hamre’s
inmate had a special needs pass, corrections officers ignored this pass, andjlgshenesnate suffered
constitutional harm. The record does sledwthis.
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a very narrow range of circumstanc&eeCity of Canton489 U.Sat 390 n.10 (suggesting the
possibility ofa single scenarimvolving a failure to train that “obviously” reflectieliberate
indifference) Bryan Cry., 520 U.S. at 398 (observing that a singleident, failure-to-train
theory is available only in a “narrow range of circumstanc&€hnick 131 S. Ct. at 1361
(observing that a viable single-incident scenario is “rare” and the unciosiai consequences
must be “patently obvious’Natale 318 F.3d at 584-88inding a triablgjury issue regarding
whether the failure to establish a policy to address the medication needatddraring the
first 72 hours of their incarceration constitutes deliberate indiffereffaejely on a single
incident of unconstitutional conduct fors failure to train claimPeters must be able to
demonstrate that constitutional violations are the “highly predictable consequé@EC’s
inadequate training progran€onnick 131 S. Ct. at 1361.

In City of Cantonthe Supreme Court provided an example of the kind of obviously
inadequate training program that would permit finding deliberate indiffettessrd on a single
incident where a city armed its officers with firearms to assist in arresting fleeimgsfbla then
failed to train its offierson the constitutional limitations on the use of deadly force. 4894dt.S.
390 n.10. The likelihood of constitutional violations stemming from this failure to train is
staggeringly obvious.

By contrast Peters has failed whow thatCEC’sfailure to train willgenerate
constitutional violations on “highly predictable basis.The Court is not persuadéy Peters’s
argumenthat the failure to provide CEC’s custodial employeéh training on CEC’s special
needs policys akin to failingto train police officersvhento use their weapons when arresting
fleeing felons. CEC’s scenariornsadilydistinguishable because CEC custodial officials are not

operating without anguidance whatsoeverhen dealingvith prisoners with special needs.
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Unlike theCity of Cantorscenario where officers are issugelapons without instruction, in
CEC’scase, there igndisputed testimony—including Peters’s owthat prisoners are required
to keep their special needs pass on their person at all tEngsECF56-1at 89. These special
needs passes plainly indicate what special needs the prisoner has. When prét$eatsgesial
needs pass, a custodial official is fagéth the straightforward command of complying with
what the pass requiredhisis a far cry from the difficult decision required when deciding to use
deadly force while in pursuit of a fleeing felon.

The scenario ilNatalealso does not aid Peters’s case. ThereTliel Circuit reversed
the dstrict court’s grant of summary judgment ftire Camden County Correctional Facility.
TheNatalecourtheldthata reasonable jury could find that the facility’s failure to establish a
policy to address the immediate medication needs of inmates with serious medigatond
creates aisk that is sufficiently obvious and likely to cause constitutional violations.
Specifically, the court noted thtite plaintiff's single incident of being deprived of medically
necessary insulircoupled withthe facility’s practice—a medical assistaimquires about an
incoming inmate’s needs, documents those needs, but is not required to pass on thatanformati
noris there a requirement to see a doctor during the/itstours of admission to the prison, nor
is there someone charged with deterngnivhether an inmate should see a doctor earlier in the
72-hour period—-was sufficient taaisea jury question regardindgliberate indifference at
summary judgmentNatalg 318 F.3d at 584-85.

Peters’s case is distinguishable frblatalebecause of the readily available special needs
information displayed on the special needs pasE€&C inmates In Natale there was no
policy in place for assessing and addressing the immediate and serioudioredexedof

inmateswithin the first 2 hours ottheir incarceration.Within that 72hour period, it is obvious
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that the lack of prochires to deal with inmates withedical issuethat are immediate and
serious would likely lead to constitutional harnigy contrast, the CEC practice of redpug
inmates to carry their special needs passes with them at all times allows custmatdd tdf

have immediate accessitdormation relating t@n inmate’s special needs, and thus enables
them to respond quickhhen presented with a special nepdss. CEC therefore does not have
the systemic deficiency &suein Natalebecause CEC'’s practice does not create a period of
time during which an inmate’s special medical needs can go unobserved.

The scenarios that suggest the highly predictable consequence of constihatronal
described iNataleandCity of Cantorare far more egregious than the circumstances presented
here. Accordingly, Peters has failed to shtdvatconstitutional violations are a highly
predictable consequence of CEC’s lack of training.

VI. Conclusion

There is no dispute in this casieout the material fact thRetersvas injured Nor is
there any dispute as to his credibility.

The Supreme Got has set high standards fdonell liability that Peters’s facts do not
satisfy. Considering Bterss evidence in the light most favorable to him hae failed to
identify evidence in the record suggesting a widespoeiatbm of CEC employees ignoring the
special needs passes of inmates. Peters has also failed to identify evidenggésas sloiat
CEC was deliberately indifferent to the need to train its employees reganchates with
special needs. Accordingly, CHs entitled to summary judgment as to Counts | and II.
Because Peters’s remaining claims are state law claims, this Court declinegiseexer
supplemental jurisdiction over them. 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3) (“The district courts rlayede

exercise suplemental jurisdiction . . . [if] the district court has dismissed all claims over which it
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has original jurisdiction.”)see alsd@yrd v. Shanngn/715 F.3d 117, 128 (3d Cir. 2013)

(affirming district court’s decision to decline supplemental jurisdiction olaentdf's state

claims after granting defendant summary judgment on federal claimisgd Mine Workers v.
Gibbs,383 U.S. 715, 726 (1966) (holding that when federal claims are dismissed before trial,
federal courts should not separately entertaimdent state claims)Accordingly, CEC’s Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment is GRANTED as to Counts | and lICaudts Ill and V are
DISMISSEDWITHOUT PREJUDICE

An appropriate order follows.
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